INSOMNIA AND PSYCHOTHERAPY

Dr Christian Jonathan Haverkampf, M.D.

This article gives a brief overview of some approaches to treat insomnia using psychotherapy.

Keywords: insomnia, psychotherapy

Table of Contents

Introduction	3
Subjectivity	3
Psychodynamic Considerations	2
Cognitive Behavioral Approaches	
Sleep Restriction Treatment	
Acceptance and Mindufulness	
Communication-Focused Therapy (CFT)	5
Sleep	6
Sleep Control	
Deactivation and Activation of Processes	8
Information Processing	8
Unhelpful Mental Strategies	<u>C</u>
Acceptance	<u>c</u>
Mindfulness	13
Trauma	15
Change in Perspective	16
Breaking a Vicious Cycle	16
Variations	
References	18

Introduction

Sleep is important for the maintenance of mental health, and a sleep disturbance is usually an important signal indicating the presence of a mental health condition. Sleep is abnormally reduced or increased in depression, for example, similar to abnormal changes in appetite. But sleep disturbance also has a direct effect on mood, anxiety, manic states, episodes of psychosis and more.

Subjectivity

There is no optimal sleep duration that works for everyone. Some people need more sleep, others less. The duration that is required by one person to feel well the next day may be too much already for another person. Rather than the sleep duration, it is certain patterns of the sleep-wake cycle that signal a sleep disturbance, as well as the symptoms that are usually associated with sleep deprivation, for example. According to a theoretical model described by Lundh and Broman (2000), there are two broad categories of processes that are involved in the development and maintenance of insomnia:

- sleep-interfering processes
- dysfunctional sleep-interpreting processes

The second can be misperceptions of sleep, as well as dysfunctional beliefs, expectations and attributions concerning sleep and the causes and consequences of poor sleep. According to this model, primary insomnia is the result of an interaction between these two kinds of processes, as manifested in various kinds of "vicious cycles of sleeplessness" (Broman & Lundh, 2003; Lundh, Lundqvist, Broman, & Hetta, 1991), whereby sleep-interfering and sleep-interpreting processes mutually reinforce each other.

Psychodynamic Considerations

An important first step is to ask why a patient is suffering from insomnia. There can be several reasons that underlie the various psychological processes that directly interfere with sleep. In many cases, something is 'out of sync' in the life of the patient, whether in the professional or private realm. T may be emotional conflicts or conflicting thoughts which lead to the feeling that something in life is not working as it should. This can, of course, cause other symptoms as well from a wide spectrum of mental health conditions.

Awareness and insight can be helpful in finding the underlying causes of the insomnia. A focus on interpersonal communication patterns, fears and anxieties can be helpful. (Haverkampf, 2010, 2017)

Cognitive Behavioral Approaches

Methods may focus either on sleep-interpreting processes (e.g., by means of Socratic questioning or other forms of reality testing of sleep-related beliefs) or on sleep interfering arousal processes (e.g., by means of physiological or cognitive arousal-reducing methods)—the important thing is not where in the vicious cycle the intervention is made, but that the intervention is sufficiently powerful to break this cycle.

Sleep Restriction Treatment

The stimulus control procedure that introduced by Bootzin (1972) more than 40 years ago was a helpful contribution in the treatment of insomnia. However, the introduction of sleep restriction treatment (Spielmann, Caruso, & Glovinsky, 1987) and cognitive methods (Morin, 1993) have not so far demonstrated any increase in the effectiveness of treatment.

Acceptance and Mindufulness

Acceptance and Mindfulness (e.g., Hayes, Strosahl & Wilson, 1999; Linehan, 1993; Marlatt, 1994; Segal, Williams, & Teasdale, 2002; see Baer, 2003 for a review) have become an integral part of the therapeutic CBT repertoire. They have now also been applied with some success to cases of insomnia (Heidenreich, 2003; Lundh & Hindmarsh, 2002; Shapiro, Bootzin, Figueredo, Lopez, & Schwartz, 2003). A combination

of mindfulness practice and psychoeducational methods may promote cognitive deactivation and

acceptance, and better sleep.

In a CBT framework, acceptance and Mindfulness (e.g., Hayes, Strosahl & Wilson, 1999; Linehan, 1993;

Marlatt, 1994; Segal, Williams, & Teasdale, 2002; see Baer, 2003 for a review) have become an integral

part of the therapeutic CBT repertoire. They have now also been applied with some success to cases of

insomnia (Heidenreich, 2003; Lundh & Hindmarsh, 2002; Shapiro, Bootzin, Figueredo, Lopez, & Schwartz,

2003). A combination of mindfulness practice and psychoeducational methods may promote cognitive

deactivation and acceptance, and better sleep.

An approach combining mindfulness and acceptance focuses on sleep-interfering cognitive processes,

such as

an excessive reliance on verbal regulation of behavior

controlled information processing

may be more helpful than just focusing on cognition or on mindfulness and acceptance.

Communication-Focused Therapy (CFT)

As already mentioned above, CFT as developed by the author can be an important tool in working with

patients suffering from insomnia. Important is to help patients distinguish between thought streams in

their mind and perceptions of the physical world around them. Fears and anxieties around sleep are quite

often due to a misinterpretation of internal communication as being a true reflection of the real world.

This tends to occur frequently also in obsessive thoughts and ruminations interfering with a patient's sleep.

Working with the external communication patterns in therapy helps to change internal communication

and the patterns that lead to the unhelpful perspectives which can lead to insomnia. The fears, anxieties

and loss of control, as well as the ruminations, that keep from sleeping are linked to how information from

© 2017-2018 Christian Jonathan Haverkampf. All Rights Reserved. $2^{\rm nd}$ Edition

5

outside or within the person is processed. Better internal communication patterns can thus be helpful in improving sleep.

As already mentioned above, CFT as developed by the author can be an important tool in working with patients suffering from insomnia. Important is to help patients distinguish between thought streams in their mind and perceptions of the physical world around them. Fears and anxieties around sleep are quite often due to a misinterpretation of internal communication as being a true reflection of the real world. This tends to occur frequently also in obsessive thoughts and ruminations interfering with a patient's sleep.

Sleep is not just being away from things, but it is a state in which change happens. Dreams are the product of information processing in the brain and the deep relaxation that comes with most phases of sleep helps the body to regenerate for a new day ahead. Unfortunately, sleep often becomes a problem when there is not too much to look forward to on the next day. Focusing on identifying what is important, relevant and meaningful to the person in CFT can help to divert the focus from the sleep, where it often just causes more insomnia, to the aspects of life that can motivate.

Sleep

Sleep is a naturally recurring state of mind and body, characterized by altered consciousness, relatively inhibited sensory activity, inhibition of nearly all voluntary muscles, and reduced interactions with surroundings. It is distinguished from wakefulness by a decreased ability to react to stimuli but is more easily reversed than the state of being comatose. Sleep occurs in repeating periods, in which the body alternates between two distinct modes known as non-REM and REM sleep. Although REM stands for "rapid eye movement", this mode of sleep has many other aspects, including virtual paralysis of the body. A well-known feature of sleep is the dream, an experience typically recounted in narrative form, which resembles waking life while in progress, but which usually can later be distinguished as fantasy.

During sleep, most of the body's systems are in an anabolic state, helping to restore the immune, nervous, skeletal, and muscular systems; these are vital processes that maintain mood, memory, and cognitive performance, and play a large role in the function of the endocrine and immune systems. The internal circadian clock promotes sleep daily at night. However, work shifts at night, artificial lighting and the

increased use of smartphones and reading devices in bed are having their effects on the sleep-wake cycle. Many of these factors are only under a person's limited control, and it is usually more helpful to consider the meaning and relevance sleep has to oneself. It is not even the sleep that matters to most people but what sleep does and does not do for oneself. Many patients focus on sleep as the main problem, while this is only one aspect in their life, and other aspects may have a greater impact on life. But rather than focusing on the issues that have a direct impact on the quality of life, the focus is shifted to another issue, such as sleep, which only has an indirect effect. Insomnia is after all always a sign that something is not working or 'out of sync'. The focus in CFT is on finding ways the patient can better communicate with himself and others what may be 'out of sync'. The basic approach is to create awareness for and insight into internal and external communication patterns and make changes. This also changes what information is received from the inside and outside word, and how this information is processes. In the case of sleep disturbances, where misinterpretations of sleep and misattributions of symptoms and sleep effects are frequent, these changes can be very helpful in clinical practice.

Sleep Control

There is frequently a misperception about the aspects of sleep which one can control and which are not under a person's control. Sleep fluctuates as the result of various kinds of external and internal events (stressful events, emotional concerns, etc.), which may seem beyond one's control or influence. However, often people find out within a therapy that they have more influence over these external events than they think, and in particular the influence one has over the own interpretation of these events is often underestimated.

Sleep is not under voluntary control, and there are no techniques that can be used efficiently in order to fall asleep, so these fluctuations have to be accepted. Sleep may be improved by learning new skills and habits, but this is a process that leads to effects over time and is not a matter of using techniques in order to fall asleep. However, even a sleepless night is no catastrophe. "Even if I will get no sleep at all tonight, I will still manage tomorrow." Anyway, a poor night's sleep is generally compensated for by deeper and more refreshing sleep (i.e., increased delta sleep) the coming nights.

Deactivation and Activation of Processes

Sleep is facilitated by a cognitive deactivation, which involves less of verbal regulation and control as compared with daytime functioning, and correspondingly more of acceptance of spontaneously occurring physiological and mental processes. This perceived yielding of control can be difficult for many individuals suffering from insomnia. It is the result of how a person defines control. If control is just seen as an act of consciousness, which many people learn in school or at their workplace, then the process of falling asleep and losing consciousness becomes something to be dreaded. Especially if there is a high need for cerebral control in a person, creating awareness for the automatic communication processes in the world which maintain life can bring about a relief and better sleep. For many patients who suffer from anxiety and OCD this perspective can be quite liberating.

Healthy pre-sleep processes (i.e., processes that are conducive to falling asleep either during the initial sleep-onset period or after awakening) involve a cognitive deactivation, in the sense of a decrease in the person's controlled, strategic information processing, paralleling a corresponding physiological deactivation (e.g., a decrease in muscle tone, a slowing of the heart and respiration rates, and a reduction in blood pressure). To the extent that this cognitive deactivation does not occur, but the individual's mental processes remain dominated by verbal thinking and controlled information processing, this will interfere with sleep.

Lundh and Broman (2000) have argued that insomnia is an interaction between sleep-interfering and sleep-interpreting processes. Harvey (2002b) focused on sleep-interpreting cognitive processes, such as

- perceptions of sleep
- beliefs about sleep
- sleep expectations

Information Processing

The network of nerve cells in the brain primarily processes information by communicating information from one point to another and by changing packets of information in the process. These mechanisms

make thinking, perceiving, sensing and communicating with the outside world possible. The fact that information is processed differently while a person sleeps usually does not cause the insomnia, but how a person experiences the change from one processing mode into another. As mentioned, if this change is experienced as a loss of control by an individual, and this control is important to the person, sleep can be associated with fear and dread, resulting in psychological insomnia.

People's activity levels show considerable diurnal fluctuations, not only with regard to physical activity but also in terms of purposive goal-directed cognitive activity (i.e., controlled strategic information processing). While awake, most people engage in controlled information processing more or less continuously, as part of various kinds of purposive activities, like problem solving and decision making. If some people are less able to disengage from their daily concerns, and to let go of controlled information processing, this will inhibit their sleep-promoting dearousal processes (Espie, 2002). Further, it may be expected that these individuals will be less able to deactivate their controlled information processing also in other situations of rest.

Unhelpful Mental Strategies

Levels of metacognitive control, metacognitive awareness, negative affect, and alertness seem to be relatively stable aspects of individual functioning, which do not differ in any radical fashion from the daytime rest situation to the nighttime pre-sleep situation. Thus, approaches that can interrupt worrying, rumination, and other kinds of sleep-interfering cognitive processes during the day can also improve sleep.

Acceptance

Acceptance means not trying to change something where it is

- Not possible to change anything and/or
- Not helpful to change anything

Insomnia interferes less with one's life if one makes it less of an issue. This works especially well in cases of reactive or stress induced insomnia in combination with other psychotherapeutic approaches. In cases of more severe insomnia, a comprehensive psychotherapeutic approach is usually needed, often in combination with medication.

During the last decade, acceptance has become a central concept in several new forms of cognitive-behavioral therapy, the most important of which are Acceptance and Commitment Therapy (ACT; Hayes et al., 1999) and Dialectical Behaviour Therapy (DBT; Linehan, 1993). A main theme in these therapies is that, whereas strategies for controlling events and achieving change are functional in many areas of dysfunctional behavior, acceptance is the most functional approach in others—as for example when the dysfunctional process consists of thoughts, emotions, or memories. "Experiential avoidance" (i.e., avoidance of thoughts, feelings, memories, etc.), in fact, is regarded by Hayes and colleagues (1999) as one of the main causes of human psychopathology.

According to Hayes and colleagues, experiential avoidance is an example of the verbal overregulation of psychological processes. Verbal regulation of behavior clearly is an example of controlled information processing.

Research on thought suppression, worrying, and rumination seems consistent with the claim that some kinds of psychopathology may involve a verbal overregulation of psychological processes. For example, experimental research indicates that deliberate thought suppression—a prime example of verbal regulation of thought processes—tends to produce an increase in the suppressed thoughts (Wenzlaff & Wegner, 2000). Borkovec's (1994) research on generalized anxiety disorder similarly implies that the chronic worries that are typical of GAD patients represent an overreliance on a verbal thinking, and a suppression of imagery, affect, and emotional processing. Another example that strongly points in the same direction is Nolen-Hoeksema's (2000) research on the role of verbal rumination for the development and maintenance of depression, and of mixed depression/anxiety states.

There is accruing evidence that verbal overregulation and avoidance may be important maintaining processes in insomnia. In a questionnaire study, Harvey (2001) documented that people with insomnia generally report more of metacognitive thought control strategies, in particular thought suppression, reappraisal, and worrying than good sleepers. In a second experimental study, Harvey (2003) the results

showed that participants who were instructed to suppress their thoughts reported longer sleep latencies and poorer sleep quality than participants given nonsuppression instructions. She therefore concluded that active control strategies in the pre-sleep situation may be maladaptive and that the process of falling asleep should involve minimal effort. Lundh and Hindmarsh (2002) similarly found that the degree of metacognitive control, as measured by the daytime CEST, correlated with longer sleep latency, shorter

sleep time, and lower sleep satisfaction. This corroborates the hypothesis that controlled information

processing, at least when it takes the form of metacognitive control, is associated with sleep problems.

Higher degrees of rumination also seem to be associated with longer sleep latencies and poorer sleep quality, even when controlling for negative mood (Thomsen, Mehlsen, Christensen, & Zachariae, 2003). Further evidence that people with insomnia are involved in excessive verbal thinking that is counterproductive both with regard to sleep and daytime functioning was contributed by Nelson and Harvey (2002, 2003). In one study, they found that verbal thinking about stressful matters during the presleep period was associated with longer sleep latencies and more anxiety and discomfort the next morning, as compared with thinking about the same stressful matters in terms of mental images (Nelson & Harvey, 2002), and in a second study they found that patients with insomnia showed less pre-sleep imagery than

good sleepers (Nelson & Harvey, 2003).

Attempts at verbal regulation of cognitive processes whilst trying to get to sleep seem clearly dysfunctional. It is difficult to fall asleep by telling oneself to do so, and all kinds of strategies for falling asleep have the potential of backfiring if the efforts involved lead to an increased arousal. The research reviewed above adds to this picture by strongly indicating that attempts at verbal regulation of cognitive and emotional processes in the pre-sleep situation are also likely to be dysfunctional. What would seem to be functional in the pre-sleep situation is an increased reliance on spontaneous (i.e., not verbally

regulated) processes of physical and mental relaxation and mental imagery.

In Hayes and colleagues' (1999) Acceptance and Commitment Therapy (ACT), the therapist begins the process by focusing on three primary questions:

1. What does the client want?

2. What has the client tried? and

3. How has that worked?

That is, one of the first goals in the initial assessment phase is to enumerate all of the various methods that the client has used and how they have worked. According to Hayes's model, this often leads to the identification of a class of futile control strategies that have not worked—an "unworkable change agenda." The next goal is then to introduce an alternative to these control strategies, which Hayes refers to in terms of "acceptance." This kind of approach may be suitable in the treatment of insomnia, because sleep problems represent a paradigm example of a problem where control strategies are bound to fail. This means that the assessment of insomnia should include a detailed review of all kinds of techniques that the client has tried in order to improve his or her sleep. This will most probably lead to an identification of a class of goal directed control strategies that have not worked very well, and which can be the starting point for looking at alternatives that involve more of acceptance.

Another concept from ACT that may be relevant to insomnia is "cognitive defusion," or "deliteralization," which means becoming aware of one's thoughts as thoughts, and is seen as a key intervention in ACT. As Hayes and colleagues argue, "eliciting difficult experiences allows them to be observed and studied experientially" in a stance of "nonjudgmental detachment." A basic point here is that dysfunctional beliefs and negative automatic thoughts are not evaluated as something negative to get rid of. One reason for this is that evaluations of this kind risk fueling vicious cycles of having negative automatic thoughts about one's negative automatic thoughts. As the authors formulate it: "ACT undermines evaluation in an interesting way: by reducing the dominance of language itself. ACT does not evaluate evaluation. It does not say, 'You shouldn't say should' or 'It is bad to say bad.' Instead, ACT tries to open the window and let a little (nonverbal) air in" (Hayes et al., 1999, p. 76). A pilot study of an ACT-inspired group treatment of insomnia has recently been carried out with promising results (Åkerlund, Bolanowski, & Lundh, 2004).

It is important to note that all methods for the treatment of insomnia, including mindfulness exercises and acceptance techniques, may be drawn into potentially self-defeating attempts to fall asleep by means of controlled efforts—that is, they may all be used as techniques for the explicit purpose of falling asleep more or less instantly. One way of counteracting counterproductive efforts of this kind in the treatment of insomnia is to use "counter-demand instructions" (Steinmark & Borkovec, 1974) as part of the rationale, that is, to instruct the patient that no improvement is to be expected during the first weeks of treatment. Most importantly, however, the patient may be instructed that treatment is a matter of learning new skills—which is a process that takes time—and not a matter of finding techniques that can be used instantly to fall asleep. For example, if the CEST procedure is included in treatment packages for insomnia,

care should be taken that the procedure is not used as a technique in order to fall asleep instantly. Helping the Client Construct a New "Schematic Model" of Sleep and Sleeplessness

If acceptance and mindfulness techniques are applied to patients' pre-sleep processes, this may also contribute to a relearning about sleep and the contingencies of falling asleep. For example, mindful observation of these processes may be assumed to lead to the perception that pre-sleep processes and sleep fluctuates naturally as the result of various kinds of external and internal events (stressful events, emotional concerns, etc.), and to a more elaborated belief that sleep is not under voluntary control and that these fluctuations must therefore be accepted. The use of acceptance and mindfulness techniques may thereby also help to change dysfunctional sleep interpreting processes that are common in insomnia. In addition, it may also be useful to help make these perceptions more explicit with the help of Socratic questioning, behavioral experiments, and other psychoeducational methods.

Mindfulness

Mindfulness is a practice of nonjudgmental observation of processes, which can also include the own mental processes. It helps to prevent from getting caught in loops of worrying, for example. Many patients who suffer from insomnia find learning mindfulness very helpful. It is essentially a change in internal communication patterns as is also the focus in communication-focused therapy (Haverkampf, 2017). Once one has a greater awareness for the flows of information and the communication patterns inside oneself, getting caught up in an emotional loop becomes less likely.

The current mindfulness literature describes numerous meditation exercises designed to develop mindfulness skills (e.g., Kabat-Zinn, 1994; Linehan, 1993; Marlatt, 1994; Segal et al., 2002). Mindfulness is practiced with an attitude of nonjudgmental acceptance. Perceptions, cognitions, emotions or sensations that enter the individual's awareness during mindfulness practice are observed carefully but are not evaluated as good or bad, true or false, healthy or sick, or important or trivial. From a communication perspective it is important to add to acceptance the ability to observe communication patterns, which also helps in bringing about acceptance.

In the CFT modification of mindfulness, the individual becomes more active in identifying certain internal communication patterns as 'thoughts' which are distinct from the reality of other forms of communication, such as an interaction one has at the post office or at work. Internal thoughts and information received from the perceptions of an interaction with another in the external world are all forms of communication, the transfer of meaningful information, but they need to be distinguished. In patients suffering from anxiety or psychosis this distinction gets lost, which causes many of the symptoms that interfere with everyday life. CFT focuses on the ability to recognize and identify communication patterns. (Haverkampf, 2018)

Yielding control can actually lead to increased control over one's sleep. If there is already a fear of loss of control over important areas in one's life to begin with, yielding control to improve one's sleep may seem counterintuitive. However, this is often an important component of therapy.

The difficult part about mindfulness is to enable oneself to selectively disengage, because total disengagement is often not desired. In order to understand processes – and not just see them – we have to engage with them. However, the selection process requires some engagement. An easy solution to this conundrum is to develop a sense for when is a good time to let go, which may be the most important skill, but requires considerable insight and reflection about oneself.

Shapiro and colleagues (2003) applied Kabat-Zinn's model for mindfulness-based stress reduction (MBSR) to sleep problems in a group of women with breast cancer. Although there was no significant difference between the mindfulness group and a control group on sleep measures, the results showed that participants who reported greater mindfulness practice reported significantly improving sleep quality. It should be noted, however, that this treatment was not adapted for sleep problems but involved a general training focused especially on mindful breathing. In an uncontrolled study, Heidenreich (2003) used a mindfulness approach that was more specifically adapted for insomnia patients, and which combined Kabat-Zinn's model for mindfulness training with a cognitive model for insomnia, along the same lines as described by Segal and colleagues (2002) in the treatment of depression. The results showed significant decreases in problematic cognitive activity, as well as a significant increase of total sleep time and a decrease in sleep latency in a group of 14 insomnia patients. Because there was no control group, however, no firm conclusions about the effectiveness of this treatment model can, as yet, be drawn.

Trauma

Flashbacks at night are often a terrifying symptom of trauma. They can make the experience of sleeping an anxiety provoking experience and lead to avoidance of it as much as possible. This may also involve the abuse of alcohol and other addictive substances to initiate sleep, which over the long-term leads to more sleeplessness, anxiety and fears. To break this vicious cycle early on is an important part of therapy.

Trauma related to childhood sexual abuse (CSA) is associated with psychiatric and interpersonal difficulties during adulthood, including depression and anxiety (Kendler et al., 2000). Less attention has been focused on insomnia, the difficulty of initiating and maintaining sleep, in the context of CSA. In general, insomnia is strongly linked to depression (Pigeon & Perlis, 2007) with approximately 90% of individuals with major depressive disorder (MDD) also experiencing sleep disturbances (Riemann & Voderholzer, 2003).

Insomnia symptoms tend to persist following various treatments for MDD including medication treatment (Menza, Marin, & Opper, 2003), cognitive behavior therapy (CBT; Carney, Segal, Edinger, & Krystal, 2007; Manber, et al., 2003), and stepped care depression management (Pigeon et al., 2008). This evidence suggests that insomnia may not reliably improve with these forms of depression treatment.

A growing body of literature suggesting that insomnia symptoms accompanying psychiatric disorders may not fully ameliorate in consort with the primary disorder. This is especially germane since insomnia is associated with chronic illness, lower quality of life, increased probability of relapse and recurrence of MDD, and increased suicide risk (Menza et al., 2003). For CSA survivors in particular, the sleep environment may be uniquely associated with insomnia if the sexual trauma occurred in a sleep context. Consequently, hyperarousal and hypervigilance may become a conditioned response to the bedroom, and sleep may be perceived as dangerous because it restricts the ability to monitor one's surroundings (Craske & Tsao, 2005). These trauma-specific manifestations of insomnia along with the high prevalence rates of insomnia in traumatized populations make apparent the need for a sleep assessment in patients presenting with trauma histories.

When insomnia persists following conventional treatments for MDD and/or PTSD, a targeted insomnia intervention may be required. Preliminary evidence has shown CBT for insomnia (CBT-I) to be effective in alleviating insomnia among patients with PTSD (DeViva, Zayfert, Pigeon, & Mellman, 2005; Germain, Shear, Hall, & Buysse, 2007).

Change in Perspective

If the goal that is to be reached requires a relaxed state, increased efforts and tension are counterproductive and may even make it more difficult to reach the goal. Paradoxically, therefore, if a person tries to relax in order to fall asleep or tries to fall asleep by means of carrying out mindfulness exercises, this may in fact create a tension or arousal that makes it more difficult to fall asleep. Moreover, if a person fails to reach the desired goal, he or she may become frustrated in a way that increases tension and arousal even more. To help the patient get a label on this process, this phenomenon may be referred to as "trying too hard to fall asleep." Often people end up fighting their insomnia, and thus themselves, which causes self-blame, disappointment, helplessness, hopelessness, and a decrease in self-confidence and mood. Rather than making the insomnia an even greater issue, the solution is to make it less of an issue.

Breaking a Vicious Cycle

The perception and interpretation of insomnia as a major problem can lead to increased anxiety, and thus increased arousal, which makes sleep even harder. To the extent that the attempt at trying to control one's sleep mentally, and especially verbally, is a problem, acceptance- and mindfulness-based interventions may be indicated. The rationale for this is that these techniques may help foster a more accepting approach to spontaneously occurring physical and psychological processes, which may help to promote sleep.

Variations

It should be remembered, however, that insomnia patients present with a large variety of different clinical pictures, and that treatment should always rest on a functional analysis of the specific person's sleep problems (Lundh, 1998, 2000), and the techniques used have to fit the individual patient. If there are psychodynamic issues that need to be resolved, a focus on relaxation will not accomplish much, and if there is primarily a learned maladaptive strategy to fall asleep, focusing primarily on a patient's psychodynamic issues will not accomplish much.



Dr Jonathan Haverkampf, M.D. MLA (Harvard) LL.M. trained in medicine, psychiatry and psychotherapy and works in private practice for psychotherapy, counselling and psychiatric medication in Dublin, Ireland. The author can be reached by email at <u>jonathanhaverkampf@gmail.com</u> or on the websites <u>www.jonathanhaverkampf.com</u> and <u>www.jonathanhaverkampf.ie</u>.

References

- Baer, R. A. (2003). Mindfulness training as a clinical intervention: A conceptual and empirical review. Clinical Psychology: Science and Practice, 10, 125–143.
- Beck AT, Ward CH, Mendelson M, Mock J, Erbaugh J. An inventory for measuring depression.

 Archives of General Psychiatry. 1961;4:561–571.
- Bonnet, M. H., & Arand, D. L. (1995). 24-hour metabolic rate in insomniacs and matched normal sleepers. Sleep, 18, 581–588.
- Bonnet, M. H., & Arand, D. L. (1998). The consequences of a week of insomnia. II. Patients with insomnia. Sleep, 21, 359–368.
- Bootzin, R. R. (1972). Stimulus control treatment for insomnia. Proceedings of the American Psychological Association, 7, 395–396.
- Borkovec, T. D. (1994). The nature, function, and origins of worry. In G. Davey & F. Tallis (Eds.), Worrying. Perspectives on theory, assessment and treatment (pp. 5–33). New York: Wiley.
- Breslin, F. C., Zack, M., & McMain, S. (2002). An information-processing analysis of mindfulness: Implications for relapse prevention in the treatment of substance abuse. Clinical Psychology: Science and Practice, 9, 275–299.
- Broman, J. E., & Lundh, L. G. (2003). Vicious cycles of sleeplessness: A new scale for insomnia. Sleep, 26, A298.
- Brown, K. W., & Ryan, R. M. (2003). The benefits of being present: Mindfulness and its role in psychological well-being. Journal of Personality and Social Psychology, 84, 822–848.
- Carney C, Segal Z, Edinger J, Krystal A. A comparison of rates of residual insomnia symptoms following pharmacotherapy or cognitive-behavioral therapy for major depressive disorder.

 Journal of Clinical Psychiatry. 2007;68:254–260.
- Craske MG, Tsao JCI. Assessment and treatment of nocturnal panic attacks. Sleep Medicine

- Reviews. 2005;9:173-184.
- Deviva JC, Zayfert C, Pigeon WR, Mellman TA. Treatment of residual insomnia after CBT for PTSD: Case studies. Journal of Traumatic Stress. 2005;18:155–159.
- Espie, C. A. (2002). Insomnia: Conceptual issues in the development, persistence, and treatment of sleep disorders in adults. Annual Review of Psychology, 53, 215–243.
- Fleck MPA, Poirier-Littre MF, Guelfi JD, Bourdel MC, Loo H. Factorial structure of the 17-item Hamilton Depression Rating Scale. Acta Psychiatrica Scandinavica. 1995;92:168–172.
- Foulkes, D., & Vogel G. (1965). Mental activity at sleep onset. Journal of Abnormal Psychology, 70, 231–243.
- Germain A, Shear MK, Hall M, Buysse DJ. Effects of a brief behavioral treatment for PTSD-related sleep disturbances: A pilot study. Behaviour Research and Therapy. 2007;45:627–632.
- Hamilton M. A rating scale for depression. Journal of Neurology Neurosurgery and Psychiatry. 1960;23:56–62.
- Harvey, A. G. (2000). Pre-sleep cognitive activity: A comparison of sleep-onset insomniacs and good sleepers. British Journal of Clinical Psychology, 39, 275–286.
- Harvey, A. G. (2001). I can't sleep, my mind is racing! An investigation of strategies of thought control in insomnia. Behavioural and Cognitive Psychotherapy, 29, 3–11.
- Harvey, A. G. (2002a). Identifying safety behaviours in insomnia. Journal of Nervous and Mental Disease, 190, 16–21.
- Harvey, A. G. (2002b). A cognitive model of insomnia. Behaviour Research and Therapy, 40, 869–893.
- Harvey, A. G. (2003). The attempted thought suppression of pre-sleep cognitive activity in insomnia. Cognitive Therapy and Research, 27, 593–602.
- Harvey, A. G., & Greenall, E. (2003). Catastrophic worry in primary insomnia. Journal of Behavior Therapy and Experimental Psychiatry, 34, 11–23.

- Harvey, A. G., & Tang, N. K. Y. (2003). Cognitive behaviour therapy for primary insomnia: Can we rest yet? Sleep Medicine Reviews, 7, 237–262.
- Haverkampf, C. J. (2010). *Communication and Therapy* (3rd ed.). Dublin: Psychiatry Psychotherapy Communication Publishing Ltd.
- Haverkampf, C. J. (2017). *Communication-Focused Therapy (CFT)* (2nd ed.). Dublin: Psychiatry Psychotherapy Communication Publishing Ltd.
- Haverkampf, C. J. (2018). *Communication-Focused Therapy (CFT) Specific Diagnoses (Vol II)* (2nd ed.). Dublin: Psychiatry Psychotherapy Communication Publishing Ltd.
- Hayes, S. C., Strosahl, K. D., & Wilson, K. G. (1999). Acceptance and commitment therapy. New York: Guilford Press.
- Hedges LV. Distribution theory for Glass's estimator of effect size and related estimators.

 Journal of Educational Statistics. 1981;6:107–128.
- Heidenreich, T. (2003). Mindfulness-based cognitive therapy for insomnia: A pilot study. Poster presented at the EABCT conference, Prague, Czechoslovakia.
- Kabat-Zinn, J. (1994). Wherever you go there you are. New York: Hyperion.
- Kendler KS, Bulik CM, Silberg J, Hettema J, Myers J, Prescott CA. Child sexual abuse and adult psychiatric and substance use disorders in women: An epidemiological and cotwin control analysis. Archives of General Psychiatry. 2000;57:953–959.
- Liang KY, Zeger SL. Longitudinal data analysis using generalized linear models. Biometrika. 1986;73:13–22.
- Linehan, M. M. (1993). Cognitive-behavioral treatment of borderline personality disorder. New York: Guilford Press.
- Lundh, L. G. (1998). Cognitive-behavioural analysis and treatment of insomnia. Scandinavian Journal of Behaviour Therapy, 27, 10–29.
- Lundh, L. G. (2000). An integrative model for the analysis and treatment of insomnia. Scandinavian Journal of Behaviour Therapy, 29, 118–126.

- Lundh, L. G., & Broman, J. E. (2000). Insomnia as an interaction between sleep-interfering and sleepinterpreting processes. Journal of Psychosomatic Research, 49, 1–12.
- Lundh, L. G., & Hindmarsh, H. (2002). Can meta-cognitive observation be used in the treatment of insomnia? A pilot study of a cognitive-emotional self-observation task. Behavioural and Cognitive Psychotherapy, 30, 239–242.
- Lundh, L. G., Lundqvist, K., Broman, J. E., & Hetta, J. (1991). Vicious cycles of sleeplessness, sleep phobia, and sleep-incompatible behaviours in patients with persistent insomnia. Scandinavian Journal of Behaviour Therapy, 20, 101–114.
- Manber R, Rush J, Thase ME, Arnow B, Klein D, Trivedi MH, et al. The effects of psychotherapy, nefazodone, and their combination on subjective assessment of disturbed sleep in chronic depression. Sleep. 2003;26:130–132.
- Manber R, Blasey C, Arnow B, Markowitz JC, Thase ME, Rush AJ, et al. Assessing insomnia severity in depression: Comparison of depression rating scales and sleep diaries. Journal of Psychiatric Research. 2005;39:481–488.
- Marlatt, G. A. (1994). Addiction, mindfulness, and acceptance. In S. C. Hayes, N. S. Jacobson, V. M. Follette, & M. J. Dougher (Eds.), Acceptance and change: Content and context in psychotherapy (pp. 175–197). Reno, NV: Context Press.
- Menza M, Marin H, Opper RS. Residual symptoms in depression: Can treatment be symptom-specific? Journal of Clinical Psychiatry. 2003;64:516–523.
- Miranda J, Chung JY, Green BL, Krupnick J, Siddique J, Revicki DA, et al. Treating depression in predominantly low-income young minority women: A randomized controlled trial. Journal of the American Medical Association. 2003;290:57–65.
- Morin, C. M. (1993). Insomnia. Psychological assessment and management. New York: Guilford.
- Nelson, J., & Harvey, A. G. (2002). The differential functions of imagery and verbal thought in insomnia. Journal of Abnormal Psychology, 111, 665–669.
- Nelson, J., & Harvey, A. G. (2003). Pre-sleep imagery under the microscope: A comparison of

- patients with insomnia and good sleepers. Behaviour Research and Therapy, 41, 273–284.
- Nelson, J., & Harvey, A. G. (2003b). An exploration of pre-sleep cognitive activity in insomnia. Imagery and verbal thought. British Journal of Clinical Psychology, 42, 271–288.
- Nolen-Hoeksema, S. (2000). The role of rumination in depressive disorders and mixed anxiety/depressive symptoms. Journal of Abnormal Psychology, 109, 504–511.
- Perlis, M. L., Merica, H., Smith, M. T., & Giles, D. E. (2001). Beta EEG activity and insomnia. Sleep Medicine Reviews, 5, 365–376.
- Pigeon WR, Perlis ML. Insomnia & depression: Birds of a feather? International Journal of Sleep Disorders. 2007;1:82–91.
- Pigeon W, Hegel MT, Unutzer J, Fan MY, Sateia MJ, Lyness JM, et al. Is insomnia a perpetuating factor for late-life depression in the IMPACT cohort? Sleep. 2008;31:481–488.
- Rechtschaffen, A. (1994). Sleep onset: Conceptual issues. In R. D. Ogilvie & J. R. Harsh (Eds.), Sleep onset: Normal and abnormal processes (pp. 3–18). Washington, DC: American Psychological Association.
- Roemer, L., & Orsillo, S. M. (2002). Extending our conceptualization of and treatment for generalized anxiety disorder: Integrating mindfulness/acceptance-based approaches with existing cognitive-behavioral models. Clinical Psychology: Science and Practice, 9, 54–68.
- Riemann D, Voderholzer U. Primary insomnia: A risk factor to develop depression? Journal of Affective Disorders. 2003;76:255–259.
- Spitzer RL, Gibbon M, Williams JBW. Structured Clinical Interview for Axis I DSM-IV Disorders.

 New York State Psychiatric Institute: Biometrics Research Department; 1994.
- Schacter, D. L. (1976). The hypnagogic state: A critical review of the literature. Psychological Bulletin, 83, 452–481.
- Segal, Z., Williams, M., & Teasdale, J. (2002). Mindfulness-based cognitive therapy for depression: A new approach to preventing relapse. New York: Guilford.
- Shapiro, S. L., Bootzin, R. R., Figueredo, A. J., Lopez, A. M., & Schwartz, G. E. (2003). The efficacy

- of mindfulness-based stress reduction in the treatment of sleep disturbance in women with breast cancer. An exploratory study. Journal of Psychosomatic Research, 54, 85–91.
- Spielman, A. J., Caruso, L. S., & Glovinsky, P. B. (1987). A behavioral perspective on insomnia treatment. Psychiatric Clinics of North America, 10, 541–553.
- Steinmark, S. W., & Borkovec, T. D. (1974). Active and placebo treatment effects on moderate insomnia under counterdemand and positive demand instructions. Journal of Abnormal Psychology, 83, 157–163.
- Talbot NL, Ward EA, Lu N. Effectiveness of IPT adapted for depressed women with trauma histories. Presented at American Psychological Association Annual Convention; August 14–18, 2008; Boston, MA. 2008. Aug,
- Talbot NL, Conwell Y, O'Hara MW, Stuart S, Ward EA, Gamble SA, et al. Interpersonal psychotherapy for depressed women with sexual abuse histories. Journal of Nervous and Mental Disease. 2005;193:847–850.
- Talbot NL, Houghtalen RP, Duberstein PR, Cox C, Giles DE, Wynne LC. Effects of group treatment for women with a history of childhood sexual abuse. Psychiatric Services. 1999;50:686–692.
- Tang, N. K. Y., & Harvey, A. G. (2004). Correcting distorted perception of sleep in insomnia: A novel behavioural experiment? Behaviour Research and Therapy, 42, 27–39.
- Teasdale, J. D. (1999). Metacognition, mindfulness, and the modification of mood disorders. Clinical Psychology and Psychotherapy, 6, 146–155.
- Thase ME, Rush AJ, Manber R, Kornstein SG, Klein DN, Markowitz JC, et al. Differential effects of nefazodone and cognitive behavioral analysis system of psychotherapy on insomnia associated with chronic forms of major depression. Journal of Clinical Psychiatry. 2002;63:493–500.
- Thomsen, D. K., Mehlsen, M. Y., Christensen, S., & Zachariae, R. (2003). Rumination—
 Relationship with negative mood and sleep quality. Personality and Individual Differences,
 34, 1293–1301.

Wenzlaff, R. M., & Wegner, D. M. (2000). Thought suppression. Annual Review of Psychology, 51, 59–91

Zayfert C, Deviva JC. Residual insomnia following cognitive behavioral therapy for PTSD. Journal of Traumatic Stress. 2004;17:69–73.

This article is solely a basis for academic discussion and no medical advice can be given in this article, nor should anything herein be construed as advice. Always consult a professional if you believe you might suffer from a physical or mental health condition. Neither author nor publisher can assume any responsibility for using the information herein.

Trademarks belong to their respective owners. No checks have been made.

This article has been registered with the U.S. Copyright Office. Unauthorized reproduction and/or publication in any form is prohibited. Copyright will be enforced.

© 2017-2018 Christian Jonathan Haverkampf. All Rights Reserved Unauthorized reproduction and/or publication in any form is prohibited.